RECEIVED

04-06-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2017AP000043-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONNIE GENE RICHARDS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Waushara County Circuit Court, the Honorable Guy D. Dutcher, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ALISHA MCKAY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1090751 mckaya@opd.wi.gov

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender P.O. Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the results of the warrantless blood draw must be suppressed under the exclusionary rule because no exigent circumstances existed and, as such, the blood draw violated Richards' Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches?

The circuit court answered: No, exigent circumstances justified the warrantless blood draw.

2. Whether the circuit court's implicit finding that Mr. Richards was unconscious or otherwise unable to withdraw consent, as contemplated by Wisconsin's implied consent statute, Wis. Stat. §§ 343.305(3)(ar)-(b), was clearly erroneous?

The circuit court answered: The "exceptions" to the implied consent requirements, including that the individual was unconscious, under Wis. Stat. 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) apply as "a subcategory" of the exigent circumstances analysis.

3. If the circuit court's implicit finding that Richards was unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent is upheld, whether the provisions found in Wis. Stat. §§ 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) authorizing warrantless blood draws from unconscious individuals suspected of intoxicated driving are facial violations of the Fourth Amendment?

The circuit court implicitly answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Briefing should adequately address the issues presented by this case; however, Richards would welcome oral argument should the court deem it desirable. Publication will likely be warranted because this case presents the court an opportunity to determine the constitutionality and operation of Wisconsin's implied consent law as it applies to individuals who are unconscious or otherwise not able to withdraw consent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 30, 2014, Officers Ryan McElroy and Wesley Bowser responded to a report of a vehicle in the ditch off of State Highway 73. (4:4; 46:4-5, 24). Officer McElroy arrived first on scene shortly after receiving the call from dispatch at 11:30 p.m. (4:4; 46:6). Officer McElroy observed the vehicle in the ditch, with the engine still running, and immediately made contact with the individual in the driver's seat, Richards, who was seriously injured. (4:4; 46:6-8). Upon contact with Richards, Officer McElroy smelled the odor of intoxicants. (46:8). Shortly thereafter, he observed empty beer cans in the vehicle. (4:4; 46:22-23). Officer McElroy believed that Richards had driven while intoxicated. (46:24).

During the initial contact, Richards identified himself and indicated that his arm was broken. (4:4; 46:7-8). Officer McElroy testified that Richards was able to answer his questions at times, but that he appeared to be fading in and out of consciousness. (46:9). Officer McElroy immediately called for emergency medical services (EMS) to attend to Richards. (*Id.*).

Officer Bowser arrived on scene sometime after Officer McElroy, but before EMS arrived, and began taking photographs of the scene. (4:4).

When EMS arrived they determined that the seriousness of Richards' injuries would require him to be transported from a local hospital to a larger medical facility by helicopter. (*See* 46:9-10). EMS attended to Richards on scene for approximately 15 to 20 minutes during which time Officers Bowser and McElroy remained with Richards and reviewed the accident scene to determine where Richards' vehicle went off the road. (46:26). Officer McElroy also testified that he was available "if EMS needed any assistance." (46:26). EMS took Richards in an ambulance to Wild Rose Hospital to await a helicopter transport to Theda Clark Medical Center. (46:10-11). Officer McElroy testified that the hospital was 6 to 7 miles away, which he estimated to be a 10 to 15 minute drive. (46:27).

After Richards left in the ambulance, Officer McElroy "finished processing the scene" and prepared the paperwork for a blood draw as he had already contacted dispatch to arrange for Richards' blood to be drawn at Wild Rose Hospital. (46:11). He did not ask Richards for his consent to obtain the blood draw, and testified that this was because he believed Richards' injuries would prevent him from consenting. (46:28). Officer McElroy did not attempt to obtain a warrant for Richards' blood and did not discuss obtaining a warrant with Officer Bowser. (46:27-28). Before departing for the hospital, Officer McElroy learned from EMS that Richards had lost consciousness while in the ambulance. (46:13).

Officer McElroy estimated that he left the scene at approximately 12:20 a.m. and arrived at Wild Rose Hospital between 12:45 a.m. and 12:50 a.m. (46:11, 27). In total, he had spent roughly one hour at the scene of the accident. (46:27).

At approximately 12:55 a.m., after Officer McElroy arrived at the hospital, Richards' blood was drawn. (46:14-15). Richards was in the ambulance awaiting the helicopter transport at the time of the blood draw. (46:14-15, 27). Richards was transported by helicopter to Theda Clark Medical Center at 1:15 a.m. (46:10, 15).

Officer McElroy also testified to the general procedures used when an individual is suspected of driving while intoxicated. (46:18). Generally, if an individual is suspected of intoxicated driving and refuses to consent to blood testing or is unresponsive, Officer McElroy would contact Judge Dutcher by phone to obtain a warrant for a blood draw. (46:18, 20). Officer McElroy would communicate his observations of intoxication over the phone, and the Judge would make a determination regarding the warrant. (46:19).

Officer McElroy testified that the warrant procedure is conducted entirely by phone, requires no travel, can be done from the scene of an accident, and takes a total of 20 to 30 minutes to complete. (46:18, 20-22).

* * *

¹ The record reflects that Richards was not placed under arrest; rather, a summons and complaint were filed with the circuit court on August 13, 2014. (1).

The State initially charged Richards with operating while intoxicated (OWI), 12th offense, and operating a vehicle while revoked, 1st offense. (1:2-3). The State subsequently filed an amended complaint adding an additional charge of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), 12th offense. (4:2). The information charged all three counts. (18:1-3).

Richards filed a motion to suppress the results of the warrantless blood draw. (15). After holding an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied the suppression motion for the reasons discussed below. (46:45-46; App. 148-49). On August 3, 2016, Richards pled guilty to OWI (12th) with the PAC (12th) dismissed and the operating while revoked (1st) dismissed, but read in at sentencing. (50:2, 14). The circuit court, the Honorable Guy D. Dutcher, presiding, sentenced Richards to 10 years in prison, comprised of 6 years' initial confinement and 4 years' extended supervision. (50:17; 42; App. 101-03). Richards filed a timely notice of appeal. (52).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Results of Richards' Warrantless Blood Draw Must be Suppressed Under the Exclusionary Rule Because No Exigent Circumstances Existed; Therefore, the Blood Draw Violated Richards' Fourth Amendment Right to be Free from Unreasonable Searches.
 - A. Introduction and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from unreasonable searches.² The Fourth Amendment, in pertinent part, provides: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause . . .". U.S. Const. amend. IV.

A basic and long held principle under the Fourth Amendment is that warrantless searches are per se unreasonable absent the application of a well-recognized exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Foster*, 2014 WI 131, ¶32, 360 Wis. 2d 12, 856 N.W.2d 847. "[T]he doctrine of exigent circumstances is one of the well-recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement." *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶24, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. This exception, generally speaking, recognizes that special circumstances may present both an urgent need for a search and insufficient time for officers to obtain a warrant. *Id.* The State bears the burden of proving that an exception to the warrant requirement exists. *State v. Payano-Roman*, 2006 WI 47, ¶30, 290 Wis. 2d 380, 714 N.W.2d 548.

Appellate review of a circuit court's order on a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact necessitating a two-step review process. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. First, this court upholds the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *Id.* Second, this court independently applies constitutional principles to the facts. *Id.*

² Wisconsin courts "have historically interpreted the Wisconsin Constitution's protections in this area identically to the protections under the Fourth Amendment as defined by the United States Supreme Court." *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶14, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97.

B. A warrantless blood draw is an unconstitutional search under the Fourth Amendment unless an exception to the warrant requirement applies.

There is no question that a blood draw constitutes a search under the Fourth Amendment. See Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 770 (1966); see also State v. Howes, 2017 WI 18, ¶20, __ Wis. 2d __, __ N.W.2d __. This particular type of search can not only be compelled, but involves a physical intrusion into veins beneath an individual's skin. See Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. __, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558 (2013). Warrantless searches such as this are presumptively unconstitutional. See State v. Johnston, 184 Wis. 2d 794, 806, 518 N.W.2d 759 (1994).

The presence of "exigent circumstances" may qualify as an exception to the warrant requirement. *Howes*, __ Wis. 2d __, ¶23. "A warrantless, nonconsensual blood draw of a suspected drunken driver complies with the Fourth Amendment if: (1) there was probable cause to believe the blood would furnish evidence of a crime; (2) the blood was drawn under exigent circumstances; (3) the blood was drawn in a reasonable manner; and (4) the suspect did not reasonably object to the blood draw." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶31.

Exigent circumstances exist when a reasonable officer would believe that there is a threat that evidence will be destroyed if time is taken to obtain a warrant. *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶¶11-12, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371. As a result, the test to determine whether exigent circumstances exist is an objective test that asks whether an officer, under the circumstances, would reasonably believe that a delay in obtaining a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence. *Id.* at ¶12.

Whether exigent circumstances exist to permit a warrantless blood draw of a suspected drunk driver requires a careful case-by-case analysis considering the totality of the circumstances. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1561. "In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment *mandates* that they do so." *Id*. (citing *McDonald v. United States*, 335 U.S. 451, 456 (1948)) (emphasis added).

In 1966, the United States Supreme Court first addressed the constitutionality of warrantless searches to obtain blood samples from suspected intoxicated drivers. *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 766-72. It held that under the "special facts" presented by the case, the officer "might reasonably have believed that he was confronted with an emergency, in which the delay necessary to obtain a warrant, under the circumstances, threated 'the destruction of evidence'" *Id.* at 770-71 (quoting *Preston v. United States*, 376 U.W. 364, 367 (1964)). In so holding, the Court recognized "[t]he importance of informed, detached and deliberate determinations of the issue whether or not to invade another's body in search of evidence of guilt is indisputable and great." *Id.* at 770.

In 2013, the Court clarified that *Schmerber* did not create a per se rule of exigent circumstances in drunk driving cases based on the natural dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1561. Rather, the Court held that the natural dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream may constitute exigent circumstances, but that a determination of exigent circumstances requires a case-by-case evaluation under the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 1563. In rejecting a categorical per se rule of exigency

in drunken driving cases, the Court recognized the technological advances since *Schmerber* that have greatly expedited the warrant process and stated:

Consider, for example, a situation in which the warrant process will not significantly increase the delay before the blood test is conducted because an officer can take steps to secure a warrant while the suspect is being transported to a medical facility by another officer. In such a circumstance, there would be no plausible justification for an exception to the warrant requirement.

McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1561. The Court also indicated that "some delay between the time of the arrest or accident and the time of the test is inevitable regardless of whether police officers are required to obtain a warrant." *Id.* at 1561.

C. The State failed to prove that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless blood draw in this case.

The State has the burden to prove that an exception to the warrant requirement applies. *Payano-Roman*, 290 Wis. 2d 380, ¶30. Here, the State failed to prove that the circumstances in this case amounted to an exigency permitting the warrantless blood draw.

Relying on *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. 757 (1966), the State asserted that the exigent circumstances exception applied because of Richards' serious injuries requiring helicopter transport to another medical facility and because officers had to spend some time at the scene of the accident. (46:33).

In denying Richards' suppression motion, the circuit court framed the issue surrounding the warrantless blood draw by stating: "The question becomes whether or not the decision to draw Mr. Richards' blood without either his

informed consent or without judicial authorization of a search warrant fits into . . . the category of exigent circumstances, as now required under *McNeely*." (46:41; App. 144). The court then found that exigent circumstances permitted the warrantless blood draw considering the severity of Richards' injuries and the officers' need to focus on Richards' medical needs rather than investigate the accident. (46:41-43; App. 144-46). The court also found that although the warrant process would have taken 20 to 30 minutes to complete, the medical needs of Richards' and the need for the helicopter transport court have resulted in Richards' being transported prior to the issuance of a warrant. (46:44-45; App. 147-48).

The court's ruling was erroneous because the facts in this case do not establish exigent circumstances. The question is whether the 20 to 30 minutes necessary to obtain a warrant would have risked the destruction of evidence. The answer is no. Here, the officers had time to obtain a warrant for the blood draw and made no attempts to do so.

First, there was no indication that a significant amount of time had passed between the accident and Officer McElroy's arrival on scene. Rather, dispatch notified Officer McElroy of the accident at 11:30 p.m. and he testified that he arrived shortly thereafter. (46:6).

Second, Officer McElroy observed signs of intoxication immediately upon arrival at the scene. (46:22). He smelled the odor of intoxicants coming from Richards and observed open beer cans in the vehicle. (46:22-23). Richards was the sole occupant of the vehicle and was seated in the driver's seat. (46:6-7). Officer McElroy testified that these facts established probable cause of intoxicated driving, that his probable cause determination developed before he left the scene to go to the hospital, and that the blood draw occurred

after he arrived at the hospital at 12:55 a.m. (46:27-29). Specifically, Officer McElroy testified that he had the necessary probable cause to obtain a warrant based on Richards' involvement in the accident, the odor of intoxicants, and the open intoxicants in the vehicle. (46:31). Probable cause is all that is necessary to obtain a warrant.

That Officer McElroy almost immediately suspected Richards of drunk driving and determined probable cause existed to support the blood draw without the need for further investigation is a critical distinction between this case and the circumstances presented in two recent Wisconsin Supreme Court cases holding that exigent circumstances justified warrantless blood draws. *See Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421; *see also Howes*, __ Wis. 2d __. In both cases, officers did not have probable cause of intoxication until arriving at the hospital after considerable time had passed in investigating whether intoxicated driving had occurred.

In *Tullberg*, the court found that the state had met its burden to show exigent circumstances permitted the warrantless blood draw. *Id.*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶5. The court pointed to the fact that the investigating officer did not have probable cause to believe that Tullberg, who left the accident scene, was operating while intoxicated until two and a half hours after first responding to the scene of a fatal accident. *Id.*, ¶¶2, 47. In addition, by the time the officer had probable cause of intoxicated driving, the officer knew that Tullberg was about to undergo a CT scan, which would have further delayed the blood draw. *Id.*, ¶48.

Similarly, in *Howes*, the court determined that exigent circumstances existed to allow an officer to obtain a sample of the defendant's blood without a warrant. *Id.*, __ Wis. 2d __, ¶3. The court reasoned that exigent circumstances existed

because of the delays presented by the defendant's medical condition, which required a CT scan, the officer's need to direct traffic and investigate the accident scene, and the fact that the officer did not have probable cause that the defendant was intoxicated until after speaking with medical professionals at the hospital. *Id.*, ¶¶46-49. The timing of the officer's probable cause determination that the defendant was driving under the influence was a critical component of the decision as the court stated "the present case is not one in which the officer could have obtained a warrant on the way to the hospital because he did not have probable cause to obtain a warrant then." *Id.*, ¶49.

Here, unlike the circumstances presented in *Tullberg* and *Howes*, the State did not prove that the police lacked the time necessary to obtain a warrant because of the need to investigate the accident to determine whether alcohol was involved or due to a need to attend to injuries. Officer McElroy arrived at the scene shortly after 11:30 p.m. and remained at the scene for approximately one hour. (46:27). Another officer and EMS were present at the scene during much of this time. (46:26). With a single injured person, two officers, and EMS personnel all at the scene, it does not follow that an officer could not have made a phone call to the judge to obtain a warrant.

Officer McElroy testified that it would have taken a total of 20 to 30 minutes to obtain a warrant. (46:22). The entire process could have been completed over the phone, and Officer McElroy had his department issued phone with him at the scene. (46:21-22). However, no attempts to secure a warrant were made. Officer McElroy testified that he did not even discuss requesting a warrant with the other officer on scene. (46:27-28). As a result, the State did not prove that both officers were so occupied the entire time such that at

least one of the officers could not have called the judge to obtain a warrant.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that the officers were occupied and unable to start the warrant process until approximately 12:20 a.m. when Officer McElroy left the scene for the hospital, he or the other officer could have requested a warrant at that time.

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