### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 09-08-2017

### COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2017AP43-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONNIE GENE RICHARDS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE WAUSHARA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GUY D. DUTCHER, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DAVID H. PERLMAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1002730

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1420 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) perlmandh@doj.state.wi.us

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

because he is not willing to commit to a test that can only be administered if he/she is arrested for OWI.

It is arguably unreasonable for the police to confront an arrested suspect with a needle intent on extracting blood, based completely on an implied consent given at a different time and space. It is perhaps this issue that led the *Padley* court to explore the two-consent theory. But by using the term "actual consent," Padley is suggesting that what happens during the reading of the Form is more important in a Fourth Amendment sense than the implied consent given earlier. The State theorizes that by "actual consent," *Padley* really meant "real time" affirmance. But in any event the State has no quarrel with the importance of the Form stage of the proceeding to a conscious driver, even though the subject had already consented. Its purpose is not to solicit consent, as it has already been given, but rather to promote the reasonableness of the seizure. The driver is reminded of what he has consented to and informed of the opportunity to refuse and face the punishments associated with that choice.

It is not idle speculation to conclude that the Form stage proceeding is not about obtaining consent. There is nothing in the Form suggesting that an officer is seeking consent. It is called the "Informing the Accused" form, a title hardly compatible with the solicitation of actual consent. It is a form full of threatening language if one refuses, ranging from triggering a countable OWI offense in the future even if acquitted of the charge, to use in court to show consciousness of guilt, to severe licensure ramifications. Tethering a refusal to submit to a test with substantial penalties is hardly an environment for the granting of actual consent. And the Form is often read to severely impaired people, again a situation not compatible with the giving of actual consent. The Fourth Amendment is satisfied by the voluntary implied consent given by the subject long before being stopped by the police, and the reasonableness of the process allowing for the

defendant to be reminded of what he has already agreed to and giving him the opportunity, though admittedly not an attractive one, of withdrawing the consent and refusing the test.

To be sure, the unconscious driver is not reminded at the time of seizure as to what he has consented to, and has by his condition been denied the opportunity to withdraw consent and to refuse with penalties. The question is whether such deprivations render the unconscious driver statute unconstitutional. The State argues that it does not for two reasons: (1) Nothing is gained by reminding an unconscious person of what he has already consented to; and (2) It is unreasonable to presume that an unconscious person would want to violate a lawful statute.

First, an unconscious person is not in a position to be confused or overwhelmed by the moment, necessitating a reading of the Form to guarantee reasonableness of the process. Nor, is an unconscious person vulnerable to the pain, embarrassment, or indignities of a compelled blood draw. As the *McNeely* court noted, "We have never retreated, however, from our recognition that any compelled intrusion into the human body implicates significant, constitutionally protected privacy interests." *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1565. This eloquent description of the intrusive nature of a blood test has far less meaning in the unconscious person framework, where the subject has no appreciation of the scope of the intrusion and is likely undergoing far more probing procedures in dealing with his medical condition.

Second, the Legislature reasonably presumed that an unconscious driver would not wish to violate a lawful statute. Wisconsin cases and the United States Supreme Court have held that the right to refuse a blood alcohol test is simply a matter of legislative grace and not a constitutional right. See State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 239, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999); South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 565 (1983). The State

is aware of no case that claims otherwise. So, in effect, an unconscious person is merely deprived access to the possibility of committing an unlawful act, the refusal of a test.

An unconscious driver gave his implied consent to a chemical test when he obtained his license or chose to drive. The Legislature provides that he can be tested based on that implied consent, since he has not withdrawn it. The unconscious person is not denied the opportunity to give his actual consent, since there is no consent to be given other than the one he already gave. There is no purpose to advising the unconscious subject as to the contents of the Form, and the subject is not exposed to the pain, shame, or the *McNeely* characterized privacy assault of a compelled blood test. The unconscious person is only deprived of doing what he is not entitled to do, to refuse the test. The statute is constitutional.

Richards argues that the implied consent statute, as it relates to the unconscious driver, is unconstitutional because it violates *Padley*, as an unconscious person cannot give actual consent, and further because it violates *McNeely* as it creates a per se exception to the warrant requirement. Richards is wrong on both counts.

Richards relies heavily on *Padley*, flatly stating that "Under *Padley*, the unconscious driver provisions are unconstitutional." (Richard's Br. 25.) Richards reasons that this is so because he was denied the opportunity to give the "actual consent" he is entitled to under *Padley*. He continues to argue that the Fourth Amendment requires the actual consent contemplated by *Padley*, and cannot be satisfied by the implied consent created by the Legislature. The problem with this is that *Padley* was not an unconscious driver case. It is not clear whether *Padley* was holding that the implied consent by driving is not sufficient consent for a warrantless blood draw of a person not able to understand the Form. And *Padley*'s two-consent approach is in conflict with all previous Wisconsin law. Indeed, its distinction between implied

consent and actual consent was severely criticized by the lead opinion in Brar, 376 Wis. 2d 685, stating it has no basis in law. Id. ¶ 19.6 And as argued above, the whole environment during the Form phase of the proceedings is contradictory to the procurement of any consent, actual or otherwise.

Richards also argues that the unconscious driver statute runs afoul of *McNeely*, because it creates a per se rule that all unconscious drivers have consented to the test. (Richard's Br. 27.) Leaving aside that McNeely is an exigent circumstance, and not an implied consent case, there is nothing in the opinion that directly or indirectly takes aim at implied consent statutes. *McNeely* is only about what can be done after a subject refuses the test and accepts his penalties. Naturally, at this point the implied consent statute has been exhausted, and if the State wishes a test, it will have to find another Fourth Amendment way of doing so. It is within this context that the State wished to use the exigent circumstance justification and *McNeely* rejected any one factor, such as the dissipation of alcohol in the blood, as a per se exigency. Somehow from here, Richards postulates that McNeely is railing against any per se rules in other contexts. And, a statutory provision finding that an unconscious driver has consented to the test and has not refused it, is not creating a per se rule that an unconscious person has consented. The per se rule is rather that an unconscious person never can commit the unlawful act of refusing the test. This is not the type of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Brar was not an unconscious driver case but Padley was examined at some length. Three justices, in the lead opinion, severely criticized the two-consent Padley concept, one justice joined in the mandate but while not discussing Padley by name had quarrels with the whole implied consent scheme, two justices in dissent applauded Padley, and one justice declined to participate in the discussion. So, our supreme court presents a muddled picture, but nothing upon which can be effectively claimed that Padley has overruled all the Wisconsin cases that preceded it.

per se rule *McNeely* found objectionable, nor is it an unreasonable legislative determination.

To be fair, Richards is not alone in suggesting that McNeely created a sea change in implied consent law. Richards points to *Bailey v. State*, 790 S.E.2d 98 (Ga. Ct. App. 2016), and State v. Romano, 785 S.E.2d 168, 174–75 (N.C. Ct. App. 2016), holding unconscious provisions unconstitutional because of *McNeely*'s distaste for per se exceptions. Richards also cites People v. Arredondo, 199 Cal. Rptr. 3d 563 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016), for support, and in addition there is State v. Ruiz, 509 S.W.3d 451 (Tex. App. 2015), again relying on *McNeely*'s aversion to per se rules to render the unconscious provision in its OWI statute unconstitutional. Id. at 456. The problem with all of these cases is that the courts, in each instance, found itself bound by McNeely to hold unconscious driver provisions unconstitutional. But McNeely, makes no such directive. McNeely eschewed per se rules in an exigent circumstance analysis; it did nothing to invalidate existing implied consent laws. Again, it is difficult to see how McNeely prohibits a legislative per se rule that unconscious drivers are deemed not to have refused the test, deemed not to commit an unlawful act.

The Colorado Supreme Court correctly noted that statutory implied consent satisfies the consent exception to the Fourth Amendment. The court continued to opine that under McNeely, "there is no categorical, per se exigency exception to the warrant requirement based on the natural dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream. While Hyde suggests that this means that all warrantless, non-exigent, forced blood draws are unconstitutional, McNeely was not so broad. McNeelyconcerned  $_{
m the}$ exigent-circumstances exception exclusively." People v. Hyde, 393 P.3d 962, ¶ 24 (Colo. 2017). And the Hyde court continued to note that the *McNeely* plurality underscored the utility of implied consent laws. Id. These words were echoed by our supreme court,

where the lead opinion in Brar, noted McNeely's approval of implied consent statutes and cited Hyde to support its contention that statutory implied consent satisfies the consent exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. Brar, 376 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 21.

Finally, Richards argues that section 343.305(3)(b)'s plain language proves that it is not the decision to drive on Wisconsin's roads that constitutes the actual and voluntary consent to testing. He contends that the language of the statute shows that the actual consent occurs when an individual decides to submit to testing rather than refuse testing and suffer the consequences. (Richards' Br. 23–24.) Yet the statute clearly provides that a person who drives in Wisconsin is deemed to have given consent to a chemical test(s). It does not state anywhere that this deemed consent needs the boost of actual consent before it becomes operational. The statute provides a mechanism for a refusal and the penalties that flow from this choice. The statute does not contemplate an officer soliciting a new and seemingly better consent than the one previously given. As the lead opinion in Brar noted in analyzing the implied consent statute, "Therefore, lest there be any doubt, consent by conduct or implication is constitutionally sufficient consent under the Fourth Amendment." Brar, 376 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 23 (Roggensack. C.J., lead opinion).

Richards seeks solace in *Padley* for his argument that the plain meaning of the statute means consent occurs at the Form stage, when he writes that the purpose of the implied consent law is to obtain chemical tests and quotes *Padley* that this goal is achieved by "persuading drivers to consent to a requested chemical test by attaching a penalty for a refusal to do so." *Padley*, 354 Wis. 2d 545, ¶ 24. The *Padley* quote is followed by a *State v. Zielke* cite. *Padley* is correct to cite *Zielke* as to the legislative desire to get tests but Richards is wrong in suggesting that *Zielke* discussed persuading drivers to

consent to a requested test. There is no such language in *Zielke*. This language was *Padley*'s alone, and until Padley came on the scene, no Wisconsin case interpreted the plain meaning of the implied consent statute to mean requiring an officer to receive actual consent for the blood draw at the Form stage of the proceedings.

So, the plain meaning of the statute, the case law, and the purposes of the implied consent law, demonstrate that the provision of the statute providing that an unconscious person is subject to a blood draw, since he has not withdrawn his consent, is constitutional. At the very least Richards has failed to show that this statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.

IV. Even if this Court should hold that Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b) is unconstitutional, it should not suppress Richards' test results as the blood draw was administered in good faith reliance on a well-established statute.

### A. Standard of review.

The trial court did not deal with this issue as it found that the blood test was properly administered because of either probable cause and exigent circumstances, or the unconscious driver provisions of the implied consent statutes. So, obviously this Court reviews this issue de novo.

### B. Applicable Legal Principles.

To trigger the exclusionary rule the police conduct must be sufficiently deliberate that exclusion can meaningfully deter it. The police officer must be sufficiently culpable that the exclusionary rule's deterrent value is worth the price paid by the justice system. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 36, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 788 N.W.2d 97. The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule provides that the exclusionary rule

should not apply when officers act in good faith. *United States* v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984).

The good faith exception applies when an officer acts in good faith reliance on a statute that is later determined to be unconstitutional, because "[t]he application exclusionary rule to suppress evidence obtained by an officer acting in objectively reasonable reliance on a statute would have as little deterrent effect on the officer's actions as would the exclusion of evidence when an officer acts in objectively reasonable reliance on a warrant." Illinois v. Krull, 480 U.S. 340, 349 (1987). "If the statute is subsequently declared unconstitutional, excluding evidence obtained pursuant to it prior to such a judicial declaration will not deter future Fourth Amendment violations by an officer who has simply fulfilled his responsibility to enforce the statute as written." Id. 349–50. The Wisconsin Supreme Court extended the Krull rule in holding that the good faith exception applies in cases in which law enforcement act in objective reasonable reliance on settled law, which is subsequently overruled. Dearborn, 327 Wis. 2d 252, ¶¶ 37, 43.

# C. At the time Richards' blood was drawn the unconscious driver provision was valid and had not been found by any Wisconsin appellate court to be unconstitutional.

When Richards' blood was drawn, the unconscious driver provision of the implied consent law was well-settled law. To employ the exclusionary rule because this Court at this time finds the statute unconstitutional would serve no deterrent principle, as detailed in *Krull* and reaffirmed by our Supreme Court in *Dearborn*.

It is true, that our Supreme Court recently rejected a good faith argument based on an officer strictly following a statute. *State v. Blackman*, 2017 WI 77, ¶¶ 71–75. But this is because the statute in play gave false information and was

therefore defective on its face. Id. ¶ 71. Here, the statute gives no false information and unlike the statute in Blackman does not in any way conflict with any other statute it integrates with. And it cannot be argued that somehow McNeely and Birchfield should have tipped the officer off that the unconscious driver statute is unconstitutional as our own supreme court has not yet reached any sort of majority linking those cases to invalidate the statute.

In this case, with a well-established statute that does not conflict with other statutes and has never been held by an appellate court to be unconstitutional, there simply is no misconduct to deter, and no reason to suppress the test results.

### CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State asks this Court to affirm the trial court's judgment of conviction.